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THIS MATTER came before the Court on August 10,2001, for hearing on Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint (“FAC”). G. Patrick Civille, Albert H. 

Meyerhoff and Michael Rubin appeared for plaintiffs. Gregory P. Joseph, Daralyn Durie, 

Randolph J. Rice, and Angela Padilla appeared on behalf of the retailer defendants. Richard 

Pierce appeared on behalf of the manufacturer defendants. 

Upon consideration of the written and oral argument of counsel, the Court GRANTS in 

part and DENIES in part defendants’ motion to dismiss as set forth herein. 

T F I L E D  
Clerk 

District Court 

For The Northern Mariana Islands 

(Deputy Clerk) 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN MARIANA ISLANDS 

DOE I, et al., On Behalf of Themselves ) Case No. CV-01-003 1 
and All Others Similarly Situated, ) 

) 

1 DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ 
1 FIRST AMENDED 

Plaintiffs, 1 ORDER RE: MOTION TO 

V. 1 COMPLAINT 

THE GAP, TNC., et al., 
) 
) 
) 

Defendants. 1 
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STANnARn FOR MOTION TO DISMISS 

Defendants move to dismiss plaintiffs’ claims under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failure to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted. A Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is proper only where 

there is either a “lack of a cognizable legal theory” or “the absence of sufficient facts alleged 

under a cognizable legal theory.” Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dept., 901 F.2d 696, 699 (Sth Cir. 

1988). In considering a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, a court must accept as true 

all material allegations in the complaint, as well as reasonable inferences to be drawn from them. 

However, a court need not accept as true unreasonable inferences, unwarranted deductions of 

fact, or conclusory legal allegations cast in the fom of factual allegations. See e.g. Pillsbury, 

Madison & Sutro v. Lerner, 31 F.3d 924,928 (9th Cir. 1994) (internal quotation omitted). 

RICO CT,ATMS 
COUNT 1 - VIOLATION OF AND CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 5 1962(~) 
COUNT 2 - VIOLATION OF AND CONSPIRACY TO VIOLATE 8 1962(a) 

Defendants move to dismiss the RICO claims on the following grounds: (1) plaintiffs 

have not sufficiently alleged the existeiice of RTCO eiiterprises, (2)  plaintiffs have not alleged 

injuries that confer standing under RICO; and (3) plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged the 

retailer defendants’ participation in the conduct of the affairs of an enterprise.’ 

Existence of KLCO enterprises 

Plaintiffs’ FUCO claims under 18 U.S.C. 9 1964(c) are based on violations of RICO 

§1962(a) and (c). To allege violations of §1962(a) and (c), plaintiffs must sufficiently allege the 

existence of an enterprise. See United States v. Cauble, 706 F.2d 1322, 1331 (5” Cir. 1983). An 

1 

Thc parties are familiar with the facts, allegations, and legal arguments in this case. The 
court states only those which are necessary to explain its decision. 

2 
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“‘enterprise’ includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, or other legal entity, 

and any union or group of individuals associated in fact although not a legal entity.” 18 U.S.C. 3 

1961(4). Defendants contend that plaintiffs have not adequately alleged the existence of a RICO 

enlerprise. 

Plaintiffs allege two types of RICO enterprises: (1) many separate enterprises consisting 

of a single retailer defendant associated in fact with a single manufacturer defendant, and (2) one 

enterprise consisting of all retailer defendants associated in fact with all manufacturer defendants. 

Plaintiffs allege that the various association-in-fact enterprises were formed for the purpose of 

committing numerous acts of racketeering activity. 

Association-in-fact enterprises consisting of individual retailer defendants and individual 
manufacturer defendants have been adequately alleged. 

In Unitedstates v. Turkette, 452 U.S. 576, 582-583 and n.4, 101 S.Ct. 2524,2528 and n.4 

(198 l), the Supreme Court stated that an association-in-fact enterprise is a group of persons 

associated for the common purpose of engaging in a course of conduct and that such associations 

may exist for entirely legitimate purposes. The Court stated the existence of an association-in- 

fact enterprise is proved by evidence of (1) an ongoing formal or informal organization, (2) 

evidence that the various associates function as a continuing unit, and (3) evidence showing that 

the enterprise exists separately from the pattern of racketeering activities. See id. 

In Chang v. Chen, 80 F.3d 1293, 1299 (9th Cir. 1996)’ the Ninth Circuit elaborated on the 

three enterprise elements, quoting extensively from the Third Circuit’s opinion in United States 

v. Riccobene, 709 F.2d 214 (3rd Cir. 1983). In Riccobene, a criminal prosecution, the court stated 

“[tlhe ‘ongoing organization’ requirement relates to the superstructure or framework of the 

group. To satisfl this first element, the government must show that some sort of structure exists 

3 
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within the group for the making of decisions, whether it be hierarchical or consensual. There 

must be some mechanism for controlling and directing the affairs of the group on an ongoing, 

rather than an ad hoc, basis.” Id. at 222. As to the second requirement, that the associates 

function as a continuing unit, the Riccobene court stated “[tlhis does not mean that individuals 

cannot leave the group or that new members cannot join at a later time. It does require, however, 

that each person perform a role in the group consistent with the organizational structure . . . and 

which Whers  the activities of the organization.” Id. at 223.’ 

As to the third Riccobene requirement, that the enterprise exist separately from the pattern 

of racketeering activities, the court stated “[als we understand this last requirement, it is not 

necessary to show that the enterprise has some function wholly unrelated to the racketeering 

activity, but rather that it has an existence beyond that which i s  necessary merely to commit each 

of the acts charged as predicate racketeering offenses. The h c t i o n  of overseeing and 

coordinating the commission of several different predicate offenses and other activities on an 

ongoing basis is adequate to satisfy the separate existence requirement” Id. at 223-24. 

The Ninth Circuit has stated that “the involvement of a corporation, which has an 

2 

In United States v. Feldman, 853 F.2d 648,657 (gth Cir. 1988), the Ninth Circuit 
addressed these two elements as they specifically relate to an association-in-fact enterprise 
consisting, as here, mostly of corporations. The Ninth Circuit stated that a court must look 
carefully at the facts alleged to determine if there are sufficient interconnections among the 
associates to constitute an enterprise. See id. at 657-58. Such interconnections may be a parent- 
subsidiary relationship, similar or related business purposes, shared assets, and overlapping 
officers and personnel. See id. The court noted that where the “associates” in the enterprise are 
also all RICO defendants under a charge of conspiracy, the allegations supporting the conspiracy 
also lend support to both the existence of an ongoing organization and the “continuity” 
requirement. See id. The court also stated that the requirement of continuity of personnel is not 
nbsolutc and thc “dctcrminativc factor is whether the associational ties of those charged with a 
RICO violation amount to an organizational pattern or system of authority.” Id. at 659. 

4 
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existence separate from its participation in the racketeering activity, can satisfy the enterprise 

element’s requirement of a separate structure.” Chang, 80 F.3d at 1300. Plaintiffs have 

sufficiently alleged that these single retailer-single manufacturer corporate enterprises had an 

existence separate from the racketeering activities because “[tlhe corporate entities had a legal 

existence separate from their participation in the racketeering, and the very existence of a 

corporation meets the requirement for a separate structure.” Feldman, 853 F.2d at 660. 

Plaintiffs also contend that the existence of association-in-fact enterprises consisting of a 

single retailer defendant and a single manufacturer defendant is sufficiently established through 

their allegations of various contracts and agreements between single retailers and single 

manufacturers and allegations of a course of conduct that gave the individual retailer defendant 

some means of joint control and participation in the operations of individual garment factories. 

The alleged agreements and conduct includes purchase agreements, vendor codes of conduct, on- 

site quality control monitoring by retailers, vendor compliance monitoring, and the setting of 

quality standards and turn-around times. Plaintiffs maintain that the alleged agreements and 

conduct are sufficient to show a structure for the individual retailer-individual manufacturer 

enterprises, and an available mechanism for decision-making and direction of the affairs of the 

enterpri~e.~ See Lorna Linda Univ. Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Farmers Group, Inc., Civ-S-94- 

~ 

3 

Both plaintiffs and defendants rely on River City Markets, Inc. v. Fleming Foods West, 
Inc., 960 F.2d 1458, 1461-62 (9* Cir. 1992). Plaintiffs argue River City supports their position 
that conmieicial cuiikactual ielatioiisliips can seive as tlie stiuctw-e foi- tlie RICO eiitei-pi-ise; 
defendants argue that River City stands for the proposition that where a contract shows nothing in 
its terms that would violate any federally protected rights if carried out, and there are no 
allegations that the agreement contemplated or permitted a course of conduct that would involve 
misconduct, the contracts are not sufficient to allege the existence of a RICO enterprise. The 
court in River City found that the commercial agreements between the associates in the enterprise 
created a business relationship akin to a joint venture and, in conjunction with the allegations that 

5 
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Oh81 WRS/.TFM, 1995 WT. ?h?441 (E I3 Cal May 15, 1995) (contractual relationships among 

various entities can establish the organizational network establishing the RICO enterprise). The 

court agrees that the allegations are sufficient. The relatedness of the individual retailer’s and the 

individual manufacturer’s businesses, the allegations of collusion between individual retailers 

and individual manufacturers to conceal factory conditions thereby permitting the garments to be 

promoted as “sweat” free (FAC 7 l O l ) ,  and the alleged longevity of the relationships support the 

existence of the alleged enterprises and are sufficient to allege that the individual retailers and 

individual manufacturers functioned as continuing units. 

For the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have adequately alleged the 

existence of the various single retailer-single manufacturer RICO enterprises. 

Association-in-fact enterprise consisting of all retailer defendants and all manufacturer 
defendants has not been sufficiently pleaded. 

Plaintiffs have not adequately alleged the existence of an enterprise consisting of all 

retailer defendants and all manufacturer defendants. Plaintiffs allege that many retailer 

defendants contract with the same manufacturer defendants and many retailers use the same 

vendor compliance monitors and contract brokers. Plaintiffs also allege that many manufacturer 

defendants are commonly owned and all are members of the Saipan Garment Manufacturers 

the individual defendants conducted their RICO activities through the enterprise, held the 
complaint sufficient to allege the existence of a RICO enterprise and survive a motion to dismiss. 
See id. at 146 1. The court then examined the evidence to support those allegations in the context 
of a motion for summary judgment and found that such routine business contracts, without 
additional evidence showing the agreements were used for an improper purpose or permitted an 
unlawful course of conduct, were insufficient to establish a RICO enterprise for summary 
judgment purposes. See id. at 1462-63. The alleged contractual relationships in this case, along 
with plaintiffs’ allegations that the defendants conducted their 18 U.S.C. 0 0 158 1 and 1584 
racketeering activities through the enterprises are sufficient to allege the existence of the 
enterprises at this stage of the litigation. 

6 
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-- 

Associati on, where they exchange information and standardize workplace practices. Although 

the allegations show common business purposes and interconnections through the utilization of 

the same contract brokers, compliance monitors, and manufacturers, as well as interconnections 

between c;erlain uf Ilit: manufaclwers lhernselves, there are no allegations showing an 

overarching structure and a mechanism for making decisions and directing or controlling the 

affairs of all retailer defendants and manufacturer defendants as a group on an ongoing basis. 

Accordingly, plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged an enterprise consisting of all retailer 

defendants and all manufacturer defendants. 

Injury to “property” is adequately pleaded. 

Plaintiffs have standing to sue under RICO if---and can only recover damages to the 

extent that---they have been injiired in their biisinew or property hy c-onduct constituting a 

violation of 0 1962. See 18 U.S.C. 3 1964(~) ;~  see also Sedima v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 U.S. 479, 

496, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3285 (1985). Plaintiffs must allege a concrete financial loss to their 

business or property proximately caused by defendants’ conduct. See Oscar v. Univ. Student Co- 

op. Ass ’n, 965 F.2d 783, 785 (gh Cir. 1992). Defendants contend plaintiffs have not alleged 

injuries to their business or property. 

Ylaintiiis allege that the following injunes resulted ilom defendants’ conduct, and that the 

injuries were to their “property” for RICO purposes: (1) lost wages resulting from forced 

“volunteer” hours, (2) payment of excessive amounts for employer-provided food and housing, 

and (3) payment of recruitment fees and deposits which contributed to their indentured status. 

4 

‘‘Any person injured in his business or property by reason of a violation of section 1962 
of this chapter may sue therefor in any appropriate United States district court . . .” 18 U.S.C. Q 
1964(c). 

7 
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1. Allegntions of lost wages suffice to show an “injury to property” for RICO purposes. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of lost wages caused by the predicate acts of involuntary servitude, 

18 U.S.C. 0 1584, and peonage, 18 U.S.C. 0 1581, (FAC 77 134,135), show a concrete financial 

loss suffered by plaintiffs; i.e. they show an injury to plaintiffs’ property for RICO  purpose^.^ 

Defendants rely upon and analogize to Danielsen v. Burnside-Ott Aviation Training Ctr., Inc., 

941 F.2d 1220 (D.C. Cir. 1991), wherein the plaintiffs/employees were mis-classified and as a 

result received a lower wage rate. Danielsen is distinguishable from the allegations in this case 

because plaintiffs there were being paid the wage specified in their contract, were not working 

unpaid hours, and, in that court’s opinion, were attempting to turn a wage dispute into a RICO 

action by tenuous allegations of mail and wire fraud. See id. at 1228-29. Here, plaintiffs allege 

they are being forced to work for no pay as a result of defendants’ alleged scheme to place and 

keep them in indentured status. 

2. Allegations of excessive payments for employer-provided food and lodging suffice to 
show an (‘injury to property’’ for RICO purposes. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of excessive payments for employer-provided food and housing are 

sufficient to show an injury to property caused by the defendants’ alleged violations of RICO. 

See Blue Cross & Blue Shield of New Jersey v. Philip Morris, Inc. , 36 F.Supp. 2d 560,569 (E.D. 

N.Y. 1999) (expenditure of money as a result of defendants’ RICO activities, that would not have 

been spent or would have been spent on other things, is an injury under RICO). The alleged 

5 

See e.g. Libertad v. Welch, 53 F.3d 428,437 n.4 (lst Cir. 1995) (lost wages could be an 
injury to property under RTCO); Reynolds v. Condon, 908 F.Supp. 1494, 1519 (N.D. Iowa 1995) 
(loss of income may suffice to state a RICO injury); Rodonich v. House Wreckers Union Local 
95 ofLaborers’Int’1 Union, 627 F.Supp. 176, 180 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (“to the extent plaintiffs’ 
purported injuries consist of lost wages, sufficient proprietary damage is alleged”). 

8 
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payments for food and housing are concrete financial losses and plaintiffs allege they are 

required to make these payments, which are in excess of the defendants’ actual costs, as part of 

the scheme to keep plaintiffs in an indentured status. (FAC 11 8-9, 125). Plaintiffs do not have 

to explicitly allcgc that thc paymcnts cxcccdcd market value; that is rcasoiiably iiifeired Gviri the 

allegations. (FAC 77 8,15, 16, 17, 19,20,22,24). 

3. Allegations of actual payment of recruitment fees suffice to show an “injury to 
property” for RICO purposes; allegations that “deposits” may not be returned are 
not sufficient to show an “injury to property” sufficient for RICO purposes. 

Plaintiffs also adequately allege payment of the recruitment fees as an injury caused by 

defendants’ RICO violations. All plaintiffs allege they paid recruitment fees. (FAC 77 15-39). 

Plaintiffs further allege that the imposition of fees by the recruiters (who actually are acting 3s 

defendants’ agents) are part of the scheme to place and keep them in an indentured servant 

status6 These allegations show a concrete financial loss. (FAC 77 121-122). Defendants cite 

Dumas v. Major League Baseball Props., Inc., 104 F.Supp.2d 1220, 1223 (S.D. Cal. 2000), for 

6 

Defendants presented the affidavit of Yafeng Sun attesting that recruiting fees are 
governed by and imposed as a matter of Chinese law. Defendants contend that the Court may 
consider the affidavit because it was submitted on an issue of foreign law pursuant to FRCP 44.1. 
Defendants note there is no allegation that the recruitment fees are in excess of that authorized by 
the Chinese Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation and cite to the MOFTEC 
regulations attached as an exhibit. Plaintiffs object to the affidavit as an evidentiary submission 
and argue that even if recruitment fees were permitted under Chinese law, they have alleged they 
are excessive and unlawful under American law. The FAC appears to raise an issue of foreign 
law, but not with respect to recruitment fees. In support of the peonage and indentured servitude 
claims plaintiffs allege “Class members have been threatened by the Chinese government with 
deportation, arrest and prosecution in China if they speak unfavorably about their employers.” 
(FAC TI 11 9(e)). With respect to recniitment fees, plaintiff< only allege they are recruited by 
“private agencies” acting as agents of defendants. (FAC 1 121). Plaintiffs have alleged an 
injury based on their payment of recruitment fees sufficient to survive a motion to dismiss; 
however, the Rule 44.1 submissions regarding the nature of the recruitment fees may again be 
submitted in conjunction with any subsequent dispositive motion. 

9 
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the proposition that there is no injury where plaintiffs voluntarily pay money and receive the 

benefit of their bargain. The court in Dumas stated, however, that had plaintiffs alleged that 

defendants’ conduct was fraudulent or dishonest and that they did not receive the benefit of their 

bargain as a result of that dishonesty, an injury under RICO may have been sufficiently pled. See 

id. Plaintiffs here have alleged they did not get the benefit of their bargain based on the 

defendants’ alleged dishonest conduct; i.e. that the “recruiters” are actually in the service of the 

defendants. (FAC 7 5-6). 

However, the deposits plaintiffs allegedly made to the recruiters to ensure completion of 

their contracts with defendants do not constitute a concrete financial loss because plaintiffs 

acknowledge that the deposits will be returned to them upon completion of their contracts and 

only speculate that the deposits may be lost. (FAC 7 119(a)). There are no allegations in the 

FAC that plaintiffs have lost their deposits. See Lui Ciro, Inc. v. Ciro, Inc., 895 F.Supp. 1365, 

1378 (D. Haw. 1995) (no RICO injury where alleged damages are contingent and not concrete). 

Plaintiffs lack standing to seek injunctive relief under FUCO. 

Defendants argue that plaintiffs have no standing under RICO to seek injunctive relief 

and that 77 176 and 18 1 of the FAC must therefore be stricken. Plaintiffs have offered no 

counter argument. In Relzgzous Tech. Ctr. v. Wollersheim, 796 F.2d 1076, 1088 (9& Cir. l986), 

the Ninth Circuit held that injunctive relief is not available to civil RICO plaintiffs. Accordingly, 

11 176 and 18 1 of the FAC are stricken. 

For the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have adequately alleged 

injury to their property based on lost wages for unpaid work hours, excessive payments for 

employer-provided food and housing, and payment of recruiting fees. However, the allegations 

of non-return of “deposits” are too speculative. Plaintiffs may not seek injunctive relief under 

10 
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RICO. 

Plaintiffs have not alleged an “investment injury” under5 1962(a) 

In order to state an “investment injury” claim based on a violation of 18 U.S.C. 8 

1962(a), plaintiffs must allege that the injury to their property resulted from defendants’ use or 

investment of RICO proceeds. See Nugget Hydroelectric L. P. v. Pacific Gas & Elec., 98 1 F.2d 

429,437 (9h Cir. 1992) (standing to sue under 0 1962(a) requires alleged injury in business or 

property by the use or investment of the racketeering in~ome) .~  Defendants contend that 

plaintiffs have failed to allege a use or investment injury. 

In count two of the FAC plaintiffs allege that “defendants conspired to derive, and did 

derive, substantial proceeds through the above-described pattern of racketeering activity and 

conspired to use or invest, and used or invested, such proceeds in the operation of the 

association-in-fact enterprises.” (FAC 7 179). In 7 180 plaintiffs allege “[als a direct and 

proximate result of defendants’ violations of 0 1962(a) and (d) of RICO, plaintiffs and the 

members of the Class have been injured in their business or property.” 

The FAC contains no allegations, other than the aforementioned conclusory paragraphs, 

that allege or reasonably give rise to an inference that defendants used or invested alleged 

racketeering proceeds in the establishment or operation of any enterprise. Even taking these 

usehnvestment allegations as true, plaintiffs’ factual allegations of injury are not sufficient to 

show an injury resulting from such use or investment, as opposed to injuries caused by the 

predicate acts. See US. Concord, Inc. v. Harris Graphics Corp., 757 FSupp. 1053, 1060 (N.D. 

7 

An injury under 18 U.S.C. 8 1962(a) resulting from use or investment of proceeds is 
different from an injury under 18 U.S.C. 6 1962(c) resulting from the predicate acts. See Nugget 
Hydroelectric L.P. v. PaciJic Gas & Elec., 981 F.2d 429,437 (Sth Cir. 1992). 

11 
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Cal. 1991) (reinvestment in the RICO enterprise itself is insufficient where plaintiff sustained no 

injury other than from the predicate acts themselves). Because plaintiffs have not properly 

alleged an investment injury, they lack standing to assert a claim for violation of 8 1962(a). 

Plaintiffs’ claim of a 5 1362(d) conspiracy to violatc 9 1962(a) also fails because 

plaintiffs have not alleged the requisite injury resulting from the conspiracy. See Beck v. Prupis, 

120 S.Ct. 1608, 1616 n.9 (2000) (“a plaintiff suing for a violation of $ 1962(d) based on an 

agreement to violate 8 1962(a) is required to allege injury fiom the ‘use or invest[ment]’ of 

illicit proceeds.”). Accordingly, plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently plead any claim based on 

RICO $ 1962(a) and count two is therefore dismissed as to all defendants. 

Violation of criminal peonage statute and Hobbs Act are adequately alleged as “predicate 
acts” supporting a “pattern of racketeering activity” under RICO. 

Plaintiffs must allege a “pattern of racketeering activity” in order to state a claim based 

on violation of RICO 0 1962(a) or 0 1962(c). A “‘pattern of racketeering activity’ requires at 

least two acts of racketeering.” See 18 U.S.C. 0 1961(5). Acts of racketeering include “any act 

or threat involving murder, kidnaping, gambling, arson, robbery, bribery, extortion . . . which is 

c1iar.gcablt; ~ i d t ; ~  Statt; law arid puliishablc by iiiiprisoiumiit foi ~iioit  t~iari o i i ~  year.’” arid 

specific enumerated offenses indictable under Title 18 of the United States Code, including 

peonage and involuntary servitude. See 18 U.S.C. 4 1961(1), 0 1581, 9 1584. Defendants 

contend that plaintiffs have not adequately pleaded the predicate acts of racketeering. 

~ 

8 

Plaintiffs make no allegations of violations of CNMI criminal laws as “predicate acts.” 
12 
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1. Involuntary servitude and criminal pennage. 

To establish the crime of involuntary servitude under 18 U.S.C. 0 1584, a prosecutor 

must allege and prove beyond a reasonable doubt the use or threatened use of physical restraint, 

physical coercion or legal coercion to compel labor. See United States v. Kozrninski, 487 U.S. 

931,952, 108 S.Ct. 2751,2765 (1988). 

To establish the crime of peonage under 18 U.S.C. 5 1581, a prosecutor must allege and 

prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim was “working for a debt which he owed the 

[master], and [I the labor was performed under such coercion as to become compulsory service 

for the discharge of the debt.” See United States v. Reynolds, 235 U.S. 133,35 S.Ct. 86 (1914). 

An actual conviction for the crime is not a condition precedent to the filing of a civil 

lawsuit; plaintiffs need only allege two predicate acts that violated one or more of the federal 

criminal laws enumerated in 18 U.S.C. 0 1962(1). See, e.g., Schreiber Distributing v. Sew- Well 

Furniture Co, 806 F.2d 1393, 1396-1401 ( 9 ~  Cir. 1986). 

As discussed infru, plaintiffs haw not sufficicntly pleaded a claim for involuntary 

servitude but have adequately alleged that they were held in a condition of peonage based on 

their recruitment fees and other debts through threats or use of physical or legal coercion. 

2. The Hobbs Act 

The Hobbs Act makes it a crime to interfere with commerce by use of extortion. See 18 

U.S.C. 0 1951(a). ‘“[E]xtortion’ means the obtaining of property from another, with his consent, 

induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under the color of 

official right.” 18 U.S.C. 5 1951(b)(2). To prove extortion by wrongful use of force or fear, it 

must be established that “( 1) the defendant induced someone to part with money, property, or 

13 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

a 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev.8182) 

other valuable right by the wrongful use or threat of force or fear; (2) the defendant acted with 

the intent to obtain money or property that defendant knew he was not entitled to receive; and (3) 

commerce fiom one state to another was or would have been affected in some way.” United 

States v. Dischner, 947 F.2d 1502, 1516 (9* Cir. 1992). 

Plaintiffs contend they have been deprived of property in the form of unduly high 

payments of money to defendants for substandard food and housing, recruitment fees, and 

medical expeiises, aid that they have been pt;nalizt;d by dt;Jki&ants lllro ugh b&g forwcl lo wvrk 

unpaid “volunteer” hours. 

Money is clearly “property” within the meaning of the Hobbs Act, and it can reasonably 

be inferred fiom the allegations in the complaint that the manufacturer defendants, or their 

agents, wronghlly coerced payment of fees for inadequate food and housing and recruiting fees, 

and that these fees and payments were in some respect unlawful. 

It cannot, however, be reasonably inferred fiom the allegations that payments for medical 

expenses were coerced. Plaintiffs allege that the defendants provide in-house medical clinics and 

if they choose to seek outside medical attention they must then pay for it. There is no allegation 

that the defendants forced the plaintiffs to use the in-house medical services and in that manner 

obtained money or property belonging to the plaintiffs. (FAC 7 127). 

As to the “volunteer” hours, plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged that the unpaid work was 

performed under threatened force, violence, or fear. It may be reasonably inferred from the 

allegations that plaintiffs were essentially induced to part with their valuable right to 

compensation for their labor by the wrongful use or threat of force or fear, and that the 

14 
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. 

manufacturer defendants acted with intent to deprive plaintiffs of money and tn prnfit therefr~rn.~ 

There is no aiding and abetting liability under RICO and thus the court need not 
decide whether the retailer defendants may nevertheless be liable where they 

aided and abetted predicate acts. 

The retailer defendants contend there is no aiding and abetting liability under RICO and 

therefore they may not be held liable for either aiding and abetting a substantive RICO violation 

or for aiding and abetting the predicate acts. 

In Central Bank ofDenver v. First Interstate Bank ofDenver, 51 1 U.S. 164, 114 S.Ct. 

1439 (1994), the Supreme Court held that there is no private cause of action for aiding and 

abetting a securities violation under 5 1O(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act. Since the 

Supreme Court’s Central Bank decision, nearly every court that has considered the aiding and 

abetting issue as applied to RICO has determined that there is no aiding and abetting liability 

under RICO. Based on Central Bank, the cowt concludes plaintiffs cannot state a claim against 

the retailer defendants based on a theory of aiding and abetting violations of RICO or allegations 

that defendants aided and abetted the commission of predicate acts. 

~~ 

9 

Defendants cite Toms v. Pizzo, 4 F.Supp.2d 178, 183 (W.D.N.Y. 1998), for the 
proposition that “volunteer” labor is not a violation of the Hobbs Act. In Toms, the plaintiff, an 
independent contractor, alleged that he was forced to perform more services than his contract 
called for and that the defendants were using threats of economic interference to put him out of 
business while acquiring his trade secrets. Toms is distinguishable fiom this case because, under 
the facts alleged in Toms, the court found Toms’s claim essentially concerned the scope of his 
contractual obligations, and not the “volunteer” hours complained of here. 

15 
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Plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged the retailer defendants’ participation in, 
or conduct of, the affairs of an enterprise. 

In order to state a claim based on violation of RICO 3 1962(c), plaintiffs must allege that 

the defendants “(1) conduct (2) [the affairs] of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of 

racketeering activity.” Sedima, 473 U.S. at 496, 105 S.Ct. at 3285. “[Tlhe essence of the 

violation is the commission of those [racketeering] acts in connection with the conduct of an 

enterprise.” Id. at 497, 105 S.Ct. at 3285. h Reves v. Ernst h Young, 507 U.S. 170, 184, 113 

S.Ct. 1163, 1170 (1993), the Supreme Court determined that participation in the conduct of the 

affairs of the enterprise requires that the defendant have some part in the direction of the 

enterprise. The Court stated it encompasses both upper level management as well as lower rung 

participants who are under the direction of upper management, and that liability is also extended 

to those “associated with” the enterprise who participate in the operation and management of the 

enterprise’s affairs.” See id. at 185, 113 S.Ct. at 1173. The retailer defendants contend plaintiffs 

have failed to adequately allege their participation in the various enterprises. 

As noted above, the allegations adequately show an opportunity for the retailer 

defendants to participate in the enterprise. However, for the reasons given below, the allegations 

purportedly showing that the retailer defendants actually did participate in the enterprise are 

10 

Plaiiitiffs asguc thc Reves test is not applicable here because that test only applics whcn 
the person is outside the enterprise and not when the person is alleged to be part of the enterprise. 
Reves interpreted what it means to conduct or participate in the conduct of the affairs of an 
enterprise. See id. at 177, 113 S.Ct. at 1169. The Court’s ruling was no1 explicitly or implicitly 
limited to persons outside the enterprise. In fact, the Court noted the test had equal applicability 
to employees (insiders) of the enterprise as it did to those “associated with” (outsiders) the 
enterpnse. See id. at 184-85, 113 S.Ct. at 1172-73. Accordingly, the Court finds the “operation 
and management” test in Reves is applicable to determine if plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged 
the retailer defendants’ participation in the enterprise. 

16 
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insufficient to constitute the requisite “participation.” See Comwec.t, hnr v American Operatoy 

Services, Inc., 65 F.Supp. 1467, 1475 (C.D. Cal. 1991) (allegations of assisting with certain 

aspects of the enterprise were not sufficient to suggest that the defendant had any actual control 

over the enterprise’s course of action). 

In fl 11 of the FAC plaintiffs allege the retailer defendants knowingly or recklessly 

participated in the enterprise and in 7 133 plaintiffs set forth the factual allegations which they 

contend support the retailers’ participation in the enterprise. Plaintiffs allege in section (a) of 7 

133 that the retailer defendants have control over minimum wage, overtime policies, and 

working conditions through monitoring and oversight of conditions but that they “apparently 

acquiesce to such conditions.” Generally, the cases seem to suggest that mere acquiescence to 

conditions does not constitute “participation” in the conduct of the enterprise. See Cruse v. 

Equitable Securities ofNew York, Inc., 678 F.Supp. 1023, 1034 (S.D.N.Y. 1987) (“non-action or 

nonfeasance [I is not the active participation in racketeering activity required before plaintiff may 

invoke the RICO statute”). Although Cruse was a securities case involving the duties of a stock 

broker, it provides guidance here. 

Sections (d), (f) and (g) of fl 133 allege that the retailer defendants impose substantial 

economic pressure on the manufacturer defendants to violate wage and overtime provisions. 

Alleged economic pressure generated under the terms of the contracts between retailers and 

manufacturers, however, is not equivalent to participation in the enterprise. See, e.g., Morin v. 

Trupin, 832 FSupp. 93 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (substantial pa-suasivc powa- to iiiducc management to 

take certain actions is not equivalent to having the power to conduct or participate in the conduct 

of the enterprise’s affairs). Morin involved a law firm that advised a corporation; again, the court 

17 
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adopts its reasoning in the instant matter. 

Section (e) of 7 133 alleges that the retailer defendants failed to exert their economic 

leverage over the manufacturer defendants to control working conditions. A failure to act is not 

participation in the conduct of an enterprise. See Reves, 507 U.S. at 185,113 S.Ct. at 1173 

(accounting firm’s failure to act did not constitute participation in the conduct of the enterprise); 

see also Kerr-McGee Corp. v. Ma-Ju Marine Services, Inc., 830 F.2d 1332, 1342 (5* Cir. 1987) 

(failure to exert economic pressure did not give m e  to liability under section 5(b) of the 

Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ Compensation Act). 

Paragraph 133, sections (b) and (c) allege that the retailer defendants have control over 

the operational details and thus effectively supervise the production process through oversight 

and quality control monitoring. This is the only affirmative conduct by the retailers which 

plaintiffs have alleged; however, the allegation of quality control monitoring is insufficient to 

give rise to an inference that the retailer defendants were directing the enterprise at some level 

through a pattern of racketeering activities. See Cornwest, 765 FSupp. at 1475 (allegations that 

defendant effectively controlled operations through assisting certain activities were not sufficient 

to suggest defendant had any actual control or decision making authority over the affairs of the 

enterprise) . 

Accordingly, and for the foregoing reasons, the court concludes that plaintiffs have not 

sufficiently alleged the that retailer defendants participated in the conduct of the affairs of the 

enterprises. 

11 

Plaintiffs also allege the retailers and the manufacturers are joint venturers and each 

18 
others agents and in this manner are apparently attempting to impose liability vicariously upon 
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Plaintiff“ have niiffiriently pleaded a conspiracy under 5 1962(d) to violate Q 1962(c) but 
have not sufficiently pleaded a conspiracy under 0 1962(d) to violate 8 1962(a). 

Section 1962(d) provides that “[ilt shall be unlawful for my person to conspirc to violatc 

any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b) or (c) of this section.” 18 U.S.C. 0 1962(d). 

Defendants contend that because plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged RICO claims based on 

violations of 8 1962(a) (“use or investment”) and (c) (“enterprise”), they cannot allege a 

conspiracy to violate those sections under 3 1962(d). See Simon v. .Value Behavioral Health, 

Inc., 208 F.3d 1073, 1084 (9* Cir. 2000) (“[Flailure to plead the requisite elements of either a 

Section 1962(a) or a Section 1962(c) violation implicitly means that he cannot plead a conspiracy 

to violate either section.”). 

To state a claim for conspiracy under RICO, it must be alleged that the defendants knew 

about and agreed to facilitate some criminal scheme, and the scheme, if completed, must 

constitute a criminal offense under RTCO. See Salinas v. United States, 522 U.S. 52,63-64, 118 

S.Ct. 469,477-78 (1997); see also Howard v. America Online, 208 F.3d 741,751 (9& Cir. 2000) 

(a defendant must be aware of the essential nature and scope of the enterprise and agree to 

participate in it). This requirement is satisfied where an agreement which is a substantive 

the retailer defendants. See Brady v. Dairy Fresh Products Co., 974 F.2d 1 149, 1 154 (9th Cir. 
1992) (holding that “an employer that is benefitted by its employee or agent’s violations of 
section 1962(c) may be held liable under the doctrines of respondeat superior and agency when 
the employer is distinct r om the enterpnse.”). As discussed injra in the vicmous liability 
analysis, plaintiffs have failed to adequately plead these relationships. Further, it appears that the 
retailer defendants may not be held vicariously liable under 0 1962(c) for the manufacturer 
defendants’ conduct on an agency theory because, as the purported “employer” of the 
manufacturer defendants, they not sufficiently distinct from the association-in-fact enterprise. 
See Brady, 974 F.2d at 1154-55. 
fact enterprise to be held liable on an agency basis instead of finding liability based on the 
person’s participation would seem to be inconsistent with 0 1962(c) requirement that the 
<<  person” miist participate in the enterprise in order to be held liable. 

To permit a “person” that is associated with an associate-in- 

19 
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violation of RICO is alleged or it is alleged that the defendants agreed to commit or participate in 

two predicate offenses. See Howard, 208 F.3d at 75 1. A defendant need not agree to commit or 

facilitate every part of the substantive offense under RICO. See Salinas, 522 U.S. at 65, 11 8 

S.Ct. 478. Further, a defendant need not have violated the substantive RTCO provision in order 

to be liable as a conspirator. See Beck., 120 S.Ct. at 1614-17. 

In count one of the FAC plaintiffs allege that defendants agreed and conspired among 

themselves to conduct or participate in the conduct of the affairs of various enterprises through a 

pattern of racketeering activity. (FAC 7 174). In 7 101 of the factual allegations, plaintiffs allege 

that the defendants entered into an agreement to either commit or keep secret the wrongful and 

tortious acts descnbed in the complaint. Further, it can be inferred from the allegations in 71 11 

and 133-139 that the retailer defendants knew or were aware of the conditions at the factories 

and, arguendo, knew of the essential nature and scope of the criminal scheme. Thus, plaintiffs 

have sufficiently pleaded the retailer defendants’ knowledge or awareness of the scheme and an 

agreement to facilitate it. 

Plaintiffs must also allege the requisite injury to property under 5 1962(a) and (c) in order 

to state a conspiracy claim under 5 1962(d). See Beck, 120 S.Ct. at 1616 and n.9. As noted 

supra, plaintiffs have not alleged the requisite injury under 5 1962(a) and thus the conspiracy 

claim based thereon fails; plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged a violation of 0 1962(c) and their 

conspiracy claim based thereon survives this motion to dismiss. 

20 
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VICARIOUS / JOINT LIABILITY FOR COUNT 3 (ANTT-PEONAGE ACT), 
COUNT 4 (PEONAGE AND INVOLUNTARY SERVITUDE IN VIOLATION OF 

THE 13TH AMENDMENT), AND COUNT 5 (INTERNATIONAL LAW VIOLATIONS) 

Plaintiffs allege that the retailer defendants and manufacturer defendants are joint 

venturers, joint conspirators, agents, andor aiders and abettors of one another. Plaintiffs contend 

that because of these relationships the retailer defendants are vicariously or jointly liable for the 

alleged labor violations of the manufacturer defendants. Defendants contend such relationships 

are not adequately alleged. 

Joint venture is not sufficiently pleaded. 

To allege the existence of a joint venture plaintiffs must allege an undertaking by two or 

more persons jointly to carry out a single enterprise for profit. See Shell Oil Co., v. Prestidge, 

249 F.2d 413,415 (9’ Cir. 1957). The elements of ajoint venture are (1) joint interest in a 

common business; (2) an understanding to share profits and losses; and (3) a right to joint 

control. Jachon v. East Bay Hospital, 246 F.3d 1248,1261 (9* Cir. 2001). See also 580 

Folsom Associates v. Prometheus Development Company, 223 Cal. App.3d 1, 15-1 6,272 

Cal.Rptr. 227,234 (1990). The existence of a joint venture may be implied from the acts and 

declarations of the parties. 580 Folsom Associates, 223 Cal. App. at 15-16,272 Cal.Rptr. at 234. 

Although plaintiffs have adequately alleged the existence of certain RICO enterprises, the 

alleged manufacturer enterprises and retailer enterprises do not constitute the “common business” 

contemplated by a j oint venture arrangement. Moreover, the plaintiffs’ allegations of the 

competitive bidding process that the retailers employ negate their contention that the retailers and 

manufacturers have joint interest in a common business. (FAC 7 133(g)). See. e.g.. Universal 

Sales C o p  v. California Press Mfg., 20 Cal.2d 751,764-65, 128 P.2d 665,673 (1942) (joint 

21 
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venture relationship implied from contracts providing for cooperation in promotion of product, 

payment of sales royalties, sharing of interest in patent, and cooperative effort of both parties in 

the repair and improvement of the product). 

The agreements plaintiffs allege which give structure to the RICO enterprises do not give 

rise to a common business, do not provide for joint control over any business, and do not 

demonstrate any understanding to share profits and losses. Plaintiffs’ allegations that the 

defendants’ businesses were profitable and that defendants profited from the alleged scheme are 

insufficient to infer an understanding to share profits and losses. 

Nor can a joint venture be inferred from the conduct of the retailer defendants and 

manufacturer defendants. Although plaintiffs have alleged the opportunity for the retailer 

defendants to exert some control over the operations of the manufacturers, the retailers’ conduct, 

as alleged by plaintiffs, shows at most an oversight function wherein the retailers monitor quality 

control. (FAC T[ 133). 

Accordingly, plaintiffs have not adequately alleged a joint venture relationship between 

retailer and manufacturer defendants. 

Agency relationship is not sufficiently pleaded. 

An organization may be held liable for the acts of its agents that are undertaken within the 

scope of their actual or apparent agency. See NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware Co., 458 U.S. 886, 

930, 102 S.Ct. 3409,3434 (1982). There must, however, be “sufficient allegations to support the 

legal conclusion respecting agency” in order to survive a motion to dismiss. Pinski v. Adelman, 

No. 94 C 5783,1995 WL 669101, *14 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 7,1995). 

An agency relationship exists when one “undertakes to transact some business [or] 

22 
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manage some affair . . . by authority of and on account of [the principal].” In re Coupon 

Clearing Sewice, 113 F.3d 1091,1099 ( 9 ~  Cir. 1997). The Restatement of Agency defines an 

agency relationslup as “the fiduciary relation which results fi-om the manifestation of consent by 

one person to another that the other shall act on his behalf and subject to his control, and consent 

by the other so to act.” Restatement (Second) ofAgency 0 l(1) (1958). “[Alpparent agency arises 

as a result of conduct of the principal which causes the tlurd party reasonably to believe that the 

agent possesses the authority.” Republic of Nicaragua v. Standard Fruit Co., 937 F.2d 469,480 

(gth Cir. 1991). An “important aspect in determining the existence of an agency relationship is 

the degree of control exercised by the principal over the activities of the agent.” In re Coupon 

Clearing Service, 113 F.3d at 1099.” 

The complaint alleges a contractual relationship between the retailers and the 

manufacturers for the manufacture of garments. Even though plaintiffs have alleged the 

contracts provided the retailer defendants with the right to establish quality standards and turn- 

around times, and the right to monitor production, it cannot be inferred fi-om the contracts alleged 

or the conduct of the retailers that is alleged that the retailers possessed the right to control the 

means and manner in which the manufacturers conducted their businesses or performed the 

obligations under the ~0ntracts.I~ 

12 

See also Cislaw u. Southland Corp., 4 Cal.App.4th 1284, 129 1, 6 Cal.Kptr.2d 386, 
391 (1992) (“[TJhe right to control the means and manner in which the result is achieved . . . 
is significant in determining whether a principal-agency relationship exists.”); Restatement 
(Second) of Agency 9 14 (1958) (“A principal has the right to control the conduct of the 
agent with respect to matters entrusted to him.”). 
13 

Even where a contract provides for some supervisory rights as plaintiffs have alleged, 
liability will not be imposed absent affirmative interjection, which plaintiffs have not sufficiently 

23 
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Assuming arguendo that this contractual relationship establishes a principal-agent 

relationship, the allegations do not show that the manufacturers alleged unlawful conduct was 

undertaken pursuant to actual or apparent authority conferred by the retailer defendants. A 

principal may be liable for his agent’s actions taken within the scope of their general apparent 

authority and done on behalf of the principal as opposed for their own personal benefit. See Jund 

v. Town of Hempstead, 941 F.2d 1271, 1280 (2nd Cir. 1991). Because the retailers and the 

manufacturers both benefit from the production of garments at the lowest possible cost, 

plaintiffs’ allegations that the retailers profited from the manufacturers’ conduct, without more, 

are insufficient to infer the manufacturers were acting as the retailers agents and on the retailers’ 

behalf in performing the alleged unlawhl acts. Further, plaintiffs’ allegations that the retailers 

exerted economic pressure on the manufacturer defendants without allegations that the retailers 

had the right to control the means of production, are insufficient to show the retailers were acting 

as principals in an agency relationship. See, e.g., Brown v. N.L.R.B., 462 F.2d 699,703 (9‘” Cir. 

1972) (evidence of economic control does not necessarily show an “employee” status as opposed 

~ 

alleged. See McDonald v. Shell Oil Co., 44 Cal.2d 785, 788-791,285 P.2d 902, 904-905 (1955) 
(contract between parties providing that one party will have a general supervisory right over an 
independent contractor so as to insure satisfactory completion of the contract does not make the 
hirer liable for the independent contractor’s negligent acts in performing the details of the work, 
absent some showing that the hirer exercised active control over, interfered with, actively 
directed the independent contractor’s operation, or otherwise had some duty; the right to control 
and the presence of the hirer at the site does not change that relationship.); Safeway Stores, Inc. v. 
Massachusetts Bonding h Ins. Co., 202 Cal. App.2d 99, 110-1 10,20 Cal.Rptr. 820,825-826 
(1962) (the right to act did not raise the duty to act and even where there is a duty of care owed, 
mere passive negligence or failure to act may not be sufficient to impose vicarious liability); 
Kuntz v. Del E. Webb Constr. Co., 57 Cal.2d 100, 105-107,368 P.2d 127, 130-131 (1961) (mere 
right to see that work is satisfactorily completed imposes no duty upon the one hiring an 
independent contractor to ensure that the contractor’s work is performed in conformity with all 
safety provisions). 
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to an independent contractor status; where there is a mutual economic goal, it is the right to 

control the means used to pursue that goal that is highly material to determination of employee or 

independent contractor status). 

Aiding and abetting of civil claim is not sufficiently pleaded. 

Civil aiding and abetting includes the following elements: “( 1) the party whom the 

defendant aids must perform a wrongful act that causes an injury; (2) the defendant must be 

generally aware of his role as part of an overall illegal or tofious activity at the time that he 

provides the assistance; and (3) the defendant must knowingly and substantially assist the 

principal violation.” Halberstam v. Velch, 705 F.2d 472,477 (D.C. Cir. 1983). In addition, 

“[aldvice or encouragement to act operates as moral support to a tortfeasor and if the act 

encouraged is known to be tortious it has the same effect upon the liability of the adviser as 

participation or physical assistance.” Id. at 478 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts fj 876 

(1 979)).14 

The business and contractual an-iuigenieiits alleged, and the actions takcn pursuant 

thereto, do not show or imply that the retailers provided substantial assistance to the 

manufacturers. Even if the quality control monitoring alleged could be considered substantial 

14 

tj 876. Persons Acting in Concert. For harm resulting to a third person from the 

(a) does a tortious act in concert with the other or pursuant to a common 
design with him, or 
(b) knows that the other’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and gives 
substantial assistance or encouragement to the other so to conduct himself, or 
(c) gives substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result 
and his own conduct, separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to 
the third person. 

tortious conduct of another, one is subject to liability if he 

Restntement (Second) of Torts 5 876 (1979). 
25 
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assistance, it is not assistance in the alleged peonage, involuntary servitude, or labor violations. 

Plaintiffs have also alleged the retailer defendants “encouraged” the manufactwers’ 

conduct; however the conclusory allegations of encouragement are not supported by factual 

allegations demonstrating active encouragement. To the contrary, plaintiffs’ allegations show 

that the retailers failed to act and remained silent. See id. at 481 (mere presence at the scene is 

not sufficient for liability). Although silence has been found to constitute substantial assistance 

under some circumstances, see id. at 485 n. 14, the Supreme Court’s decision in Central Bank 

cautions against imposition of aiding and abetting liability for violation of a statute where 

Congress has not expressly provided for such liability. See id., 51 1 U.S. at 182, 114 S.Ct. at 

1450-51 (“Congress has not enacted a general civil aiding and abetting statute-either for suits by 

the Government (when the Government sues for civil penalties or injunctive relief) or for suits by 

private parties.”). Accordingly, plaintiffs have not adequately pleaded that the retailers aided and 

abetted in the manufacturer’s conduct. 

Civil conspiracy is adequately pleaded. 

To plead a civil conspiracy, plaintiffs must allege (1) an agreement between two or more 

persons, (2)  to participate in an unlawful act or a lawful act in an unlawful manner, (3) an overt 

act pursuant to and in furtherance of the common scheme, and (4) an injury caused by an 

unlawful overt act performed by one of the parties to the agreement. Halberstam, 705 F.2d at 

477. “It is only where means are employed, or purposes are accomplished, which are themselves 

toitious, that conspirators who have not acted but have pi-omoted the act will be held liable.’’ Id. 

“Proof of a tacit, as opposed to explicit, understanding is sufficient to show agreement.” Id. 

Plaintiffs have adequately alleged an agreement to participate in an unlawful scheme, 
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overt acts in fintherance thereof, and injury caused by tortious overt acts as dimissed above in 

the FUCO analysis. Accordingly, plaintiffs have sufficiently pleaded that the retailers and the 

manufacturers were co-conspirators. 

COUNT 3 (VIOLATION OF THE ANTI-PEONAGE ACT); COUNT 4 (PEONAGE AND 
INVOLUNTARY SERVITUDE IN VIOLATION OF THE 13TH AMENDMENT) 

Plaintiffs do not state a claim under the Anti-Peonage Act 
because state action is required. 

Defendants contend plaintiffs must allege state action in order to state a claim under the 

Anti-Peonage Act and that because plaintiffs cannot allege state action, the claim must be 

dismissed. This court agrees. 

In 1867 Congress passed the Anti-Peonage Act, codified at 42 U.S.C. 0 1994, which 

prohibits the holding of individuals to forced ~ervitude.’~ See Craine v. Alexander, 756 F.2d 

1070, 1074 (5* Cir. 1985). The Anti-Peonage Act was enacted to enforce the Thirteenth 

l5 The Anti-Peonage Act states: 

“The holding of any person to service or labor under the system known as peonage is 
abolished and forever prohibited in any Territory or State of the United States; and all 
acts, laws, resolutions, orders, regulations, or usages of any Territory or State, which have 
heretofore established, maintained, or enforced, or by virtue of which any attempt shall 
hereafter be made to establish, maintain, or enforce, directly or indirectly, the voluntary 
or involuntary service of labor of any persons as peons, in liquidation of any debt or 
obligation, or otherwise, are declared null and void.” 42 U.S.C. 0 1994. 

The criminal sanctions provision of the Anti-Peonage Act have been codified at 18 U.S.C. 5 
1581. The statute states: 

”(a) Whoever holds or returns any person to a condition of peonage, or arrests any person 
with the intent of placing him in or returning him to a condition of peonage, shall be fined 
not more than $5,000 or imprisoned not more than five years, or both.” 
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Amendment. The Act basically performed three separate tasks. it abolished peonage,’6 it 

declared null and void all existing and future state laws and practices which enabled peonage to 

exist,17 and it provided criminal penalties for individuals holding another in a state of peonage.” 

See Pollack v. Williams, 322 U.S. 4, 8 n.8,64 S.Ct. 792, 795 n.8 (1944). 

Plaintiffs cite to CZyatt v. United States, 197 U.S. 207,25 S.Ct. 429 (1905), as standing 

for the proposition that state action is not required to state a claim under the Anti-Peonage Act. 

In Cfyatt, the Supreme Court granted certiorari to review a judgment convicting the defendant of 

holding persons in peonage.” In its analysis, the C o w  first considered the constitutionality of 

the statutes2’ which made it a crime to hold or return a person to a state of peonage. CZyatt, 197 

U.S. at 215, 25 S.Ct. at 430. In discussing the constitutionality of the statutes, the Court noted 

that “Congress may enforce the Thirteenth Amendment by direct legislation” and “[i]n the 

16 

See supra Clause One of the Anti-Peonage Act. 

See supra Clause Two of the Anti-Peonage Act. 

See supra The criminal sanctions provision of the Anti-Peonage Act, codified at 18 

17 

18 

U.S.C. 8 1581. 
19 

The defendant in Clyatt was a private actor who was criminally charged by the United 
States with holding the two plaintiffs in a condition of peonage. Clyatt, 197 U.S. at 209,25 S.Ct. 
at 429. The Supreme Court held that the evidence was insufficient to justify a finding of peonage. 
Id. at 222,25 S.Ct. at 433. “We have examined the testimony with great care to see if there is 
anything which would justify a finding of [peonage], and can find nothing. No matter how 
severe may be the condemnation which is due to the conduct of a party charged with a criminal 
offense, it is the imperative duty of this court to see that all the elements of his crime are 
proved ... .” Id., 25 S.Ct. at 433. 

20 

In Clyatt, the Supreme Court reviewed the constitutionality of Rev. St. U.S. $8  1990, 
5526, which are predecessors to 42 U.S.C. 6 1994 and 18 U.S.C. 8 1581. 
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exercise nf that power Congress has enacted these [statutes] denouncing peonage, and punishing 

one who holds another in that condition of involuntary servitude.” Id. at 218,25 S.Ct. at 431. 

The Court went further and stated that “[wle entertain no doubt of the validity of this legislation, 

or its applicability to the case of any person holding another in a state of peonage, and this is 

whether there be a municipal ordinance or state law sanctioning such holding.” Id.., 25 S.Ct. at 

43 1. Plaintiffs rely on this statement as controlling precedent that an individual could be subject 

to a civil suit for peonage under the Anti-Peonage Act whether or not there was some state law or 

practice enabling the peonage. This court disagrees with the Plaintiffs’ interpretation because 

CZyatt involved a criminal prosecution. The Court finds no basis in CZyatt for assuming that an 

individual has a civil cause of action under the Anti-Peonage Act against another individual, 

absent state action. 

In CZyatt, the Court upheld the constitutionality of the predecessors of the Anti-Peonage 

Act and its criminal sanctions provision. The CZyatt Court made a distinction between the 

statutes when it stated that “Congress has enacted these [statutes] denouncing peonage, and 

punishing one who holds another in that condition of involuntary servitude.” Id. at 21 8,25 S.Ct. 

at 43 1. In this statement, it appears that the Court was distinguishing between the Anti-Peonage 

Act itself and its ci-iminal sanctions pi-ovision. This distinction is fbrthcr cmphasizcd whcn thc 

Court acknowledged “the validity of this legislation, [and] its applicability to the case of any 

person holding another in a state of peonage, and this is whether there be a municipal ordinance 

or state law sanctioning such holding.” Id., 25 S.Ct. at 43 1. This court interprets that statement 

to denote that the Supreme Court upholds the constitutionality of the Anti-Peonage Act and its 

criminal sanctions provision, and fwther upholds the criminal sanctions provision’s 
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“applicability to the case of any person holding another in a state: nf peonage” whether or not 

there is a state law or ordinance allowing such conduct. In other words, Clyatt appears to stand 

for the proposition that state action is not required for a criminal proceeding pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. $j 1581, the criminal sanctions provision of the Anti-Peonage Act. The issue of whether 

state action is required for a civil proceeding pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 9 1994, the Anti-Peonage 

Act, was not definitively addressed in Clyatt. 

In Craine v. Alexander, 756 F.2d 1070, 1074 (5th Cir. 1985), the Fifth Circuit held that a 

plaintiff asserting a claim of peonage must show some state responsibility for the abuse 

complained of in order to bring the claim.21 “Section 1994 renders invalid only the “acts, laws, 

resolutions, orders, regulations or usages” of the states that establish or enforce labor as a peon.” 

Craine, 756 F.2d at 1074. The Fifth Circuit stated that its conclusion was “buttressed by the 

Supreme Court’s language in Pollock v. Williams,” and cited the following language fiom 

Pollock 

Forced labor in some special circumstances may be consistent with the general 
basic system of fiee labor. For example, forced labor has been sustained as a 
means of punishing crime. . . . But in general the defense against oppressive 
hours, pay, working conditions or treatment is the right to change employers. 
When the master can compel and the laborer cannot escape the obligation to go 
on, there is no power below to redress and no incentive above to relieve a harsh 
overlordship or unwholesome conditions of work. Whatever of social value there 
may be, and of course it is great, in enforcing contracts and collections of debts, 

111 LI 

In Craine, a state prisoner brought a 42 U.S.C. $j 1983 suit seeking damages for battery 
against the County, the Sheriff and certain deputies, and the Board of Supervisors of the County 
Jail. Craine, 756 F.2d 1070, 1071 (5* Cir. 1985). The plaintiff also sought damages under 42 
U.S.C. 0 1994, the Anti-Peonage Act, for being subjected to peonage. Id. The Fifth Circuit held 
“that no rcasonablc jury could haw found that any ‘acts, laws, rcsolutions, orders, regulations, or 
usages of [the state],’ or even of [the] County, caused Craine to be subjected to labor as a peon.” 
Id. at 1074. 
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Congress has put it beyond debate that no indebtedness warrants a suspension of 
the right to be free from compulsory service. This congressional policy means 
that no state can make the quitting of work any component of a crime, or make 
criminal sanctions available for holding unwilling pcrsons to labor. Id. at 1074-75 

(citing Pollackv. Williams, 322 U.S. 4, 17-18, 64 S.Ct. 792, 799 (1944)). 

The Craine court concluded “[tlhis Congressional policy, even outside the context of a 

state criminal statute, would have little application unless it is the state that is enforcing the 

peonage, whether directly or indirectly, as opposed to an individual.” Craine, 756 F.2d at 1075. 

As a second basis for requiring state action, the Craine court stated: 

Craine asks us to construe 0 1994 broadly so as to give him a right of action for 
damages under 3 1983 “without consideration of the perpetrator.” He presents us 
with no convincing plea why we should ignore what Congress chose to make 
essential. In defining this right as it did, Congress did not choose to abolish 
usages or customs of individuals that might be likened to conditions of peonage. 
The remedy for such individual acts lies in the criminal sanction of 18 U.S.C. 9 
1581 against holding another to a condition of peonage. . . . We decline to expand 
the scope of the 0 1994 right in direct contravention of legislative expression. 
Id. at 1075. 

This court finds Craine dispositive of the issue at hand. Craine, relyng on Pollack, 

continues where CZyatt left off. Clyatt upheld the constitutionality of the Anti-Peonage Act and 

its criminal sanctions provision and indicated that state action is not required for a criminal 

proceeding pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 0 1581. Whereas, Craine takes a step further and specifically 

holds that state action is required for a civil proceeding pursuant to the Anti-Peonage Act. This 

court finds the Fifth Circuit’s holding in Craine consistent with a direct reading of the Anti- 

Peonage Act. The Act completely abolished peonage in its first clause and declared null and 

void all existing and future state laws and practices which enable peonage to exist in its second. 

See Pollack, 322 US.  at 8 n.8,64 S.Ct. at 795 n.8. The Act also provides criminal penalties 
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under its separate criminal sanctions provision for individuals holding another in a state of 

peonage. See Id. 

Accordingly, and for the above reasons, the court finds that allegations of state action are 

required to state a claim for violation of the Anti-Peonage Act. 

The Thirteenth Amendment does not provide plaintiffs with a direct cause of action 
for either involuntary servitude or peonage. 

Count four asserts a claim against all defendants for violation of the Thirteenth 

Amendment.” The claim is based on separate allegations of peonage and involuntary servitude, 

not slavery. Defendants contend that plaintiffs may not bring a claim directly under the 

Thirteenth Amendment against private actors. This court agrees. 

The Supreme Cow in the Civil Rights Cases, 109 U.S. 3,20,3 S.Ct. 18,28 (1883), 

stated that the Thirteenth Amendment “is undoubtedly self-executing without any ancillary 

legislation, so far as its terms are applicable to any existing state of circumstances. By its own 

unaided force and effect it abolished slavery, and established universal freedoms.” The Court 

continued, however, that “[sltill, legislation may be necessary and proper to meet all the various 

cases and circumstances to be affected by it, and to prescribe proper modes of redress for its 

violation in letter or spirit.” Id. 

# 
22 

The Thirteenth Amendment states: 

Section 1. Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, except as punishment for 
crime whereof the party shall have been duly convicted, shall exist within the 
United States, or any place subject to their jurisdiction. 

Section 2. Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate 
legislation. 
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Plaintiffs contend that a private right nf sctinn i q  available for violations of constitutional 

rights based on the Supreme Court’s holding in Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Fed. 

Bureau ofNarcotics, 403 U.S. 388,91 S.Ct. 1999 (1971) (holding that an action could be 

brought directly under the Fourth Amendment against a federal official). However, a review of 

federal case law indicates that the specific issue before this court - whether a plaintiff can bring 

a claim directly under the Thirteenth Amendment against a private actor - has not yet been 

thoroughly analyzed by the high court. 

The Supreme Court in City ofMemphis v. Greene, 451 U.S. 100,101 S.Ct. 1584 (1981), 

addressed a claim brought against the city and its officials both under 42 U.S.C. 0 1982 and 

directly under the Thirteenth Amendment. The Court confirmed that the Thirteenth Amendment 

is self-executing and considered the claim brought directly under the Amendment.23 See id. at 

124, 101 S.Ct. at 1598. In its analysis, the Court first determined that the plaintiffs in City of 

Memphis did not have an injury that fell within the reach of 0 1982. Id. at 124, 101 S.Ct. at 

23 

In City of Memphis, the plaintiffs claimed the city’s decision to close a road connecting a 
white residential community with a predominantly black area was racially motivated, placed a 
disparate burden on black citizens, and constituted an unconstitutional badge of slavery. Id. at 
124, 101 S.Ct. at 1598. Before considering whether plaintiffs’ rights under the Thirteenth 
Amendment had been violated, the Court determined that plaintiffs’ injury did “not involve any 
impairment to the kind of property interests that we have identified as being within the reach of 6 
1982.” Id. The defendants had argued that because the closing did not violate 0 1982, which 
was enacted pursuant to 5 2 of the Amendment, “any judicial characterization of an isolated 
street closing as a badge of slavery would constitute the usurpation of a law making power far 
beyond the imagination of the amendment’s authors.” Id. The Court addressed defendants’ 
argument stating that “[p]ursumt to the authority created by Q 2 of the Thirteenth Amendment, 
Congress has enacted legislation to abolish both conditions of involuntary servitude and the 
badges and incidents of slavery. The exercise of that authority is not inconsistent with the view 
that the Amendment has sclf-cxccuting forcc. As thc Court notcd in Jones v. A p e d  H llfuyer 
Co., . . . [b]y its own unaided force and effect, the Thirteenth Amendment abolished slavery and 
established universal freedom.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted). 
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1598. The Court then stated, “[wle therefore must consider whether the street closing violated 

respondents’ constitutional rights.”24 Id., 101 S.Ct. at 1598. 

At first glance, it may appear that City of Memphis stands for the proposition that a court 

may consider a civil rights claim brought pursuant to the Thirteenth Amendment, and not just a 

claim brought through “ancillary legislation.” In City of Memphis, the Supreme Court 

acknowledged that the Thirteenth Amendment “abolished slavery” and “established universal 

freedom.” Id. at 125, 101 S.Ct. at 1599. But, it “left open the question whether Section 1 of the 

Amendment by its own terms did anything more than abolish slavery,” id. at 125-26, 101 S.Ct. at 

1599, because the Court could not characterize the public action challenged in City of Memphis 

as a badge or incident of slavery. Id. at 126, 101 S.Ct. at 1599. More importantly, the Supreme 

Court never stated specifically that a direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment 

against private actors was available. In Bivens, the decision to imply a direct action under the 

Constitution was premised heavily on the fact that federal actors were involved. Like Bivens, 

City of Memphis involvcd govcrnmcnt officials, albeit municipal officials. The present case 

involves only private actors, and this court finds that to be a crucial distinction. Even though the 

Supreme Court seems to have acknowledged the existence of a direct cause of action under the 

‘l’hirteenth Amendment against public actors, this court does not believe Czty of Memphis can be 

construed so broadly as to also include private actors. 

24 

The Supreme Court did not find that plaintiffs’ constitutional rights had been violated. 
The Court stated, “[tlo decide the narrow constitutional question presented by this record we 
need not speculate about the sort of impact on a racial group that might be prohibited by the 
Amendment itself. We merely hold that the impact of the closing . . . does not reflect a violation 
of the Thirteenth Amendment.” Id. at 128-29, 101 S.Ct. at 1601. 
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Since its 198 1 decision in City of Memphis, the Supreme Court has not revisited the issue 

of direct actions under the Thirteenth Amendment. Plaintiffs, however, do cite one case where 

the Eleventh Circuit recognized a direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment.25 In 

Terry Properlies, Inc. v. Slundurd Oil Co. (Ind.), 799 F.2d 1523, 1536 (1 lth Cir. 1986), the 

Eleventh Circuit, relying on City of Memphis v. Greene, 452 US.  955 (198 l), stated that a 

private defendant may be directly liable under the Thirteenth Amendment but affirmed the 

district court’s finding that the defendant lacked the discriminatory intent necessary to sustain a 

direct claim under the Thirteenth Amendment.26 

25 

Thc Niiith Circuit has not addressed the issue. See Cato v. United States, 70 F.3d 1103, 
1109 n.7 and 11 10 (9’ Cir. 1995) (Thirteenth Amendment claim dismissed because of lack of 
standing and the United States’ sovereign immunity; court also stated that Bivens had not been 
extended to actions against government agencies or against the United States). 

26 

Plaintiffs also cite to two other cases that suggest that a direct cause of action under the 
Thirteenth Amendment exists: Channer v. Hall, 112 F.3d 214,217 and n.5 (5* Cir. 1997) (INS 
detainee brought claim for involuntary servitude because he was forced to work in the food 
service department of the detention center every day; although the court found plaintiff failed to 
state a claim, the court assumed, arguendo, that the claim could be brought directly under the 
Thirteenth Amendment because 0 1 of the Thirteenth Amendment abolishing slavery was self- 
t;xer;uting), and CUA v. Sluriton, 529 F.2d 47,50  (4’ Cii-. 1975) (court rcvcrscd district court’s 
dismissal of the action on statute of limitations grounds and noted that while the 3 1983 claim 
was barred for other reasons, plaintiff had also alleged claims directly under the Thirteenth and 
Fourteenth Amendments). 

The Court finds that these cases are of little persuasive value. In Channer, the Fifth 
Circuit in its analysis first “ ... assume[d], arguendo, that the Thirteenth Amendment directly gives 
rise to a cause of action for damages under the analysis articulated in Bivens v. Six Unknown 
NamedAgents ofthe Fed. Bureau ofNarcotics, 403 US. 388,91 S.Ct. 1999 (1971) and its 
progeny.” Channer, 112 F.3d at 217. The court next determined whether the actions the plaintiff 
complained about constituted involuntary servitude. Id. In Channer, the Fifth Circuit did not 
directly discuss nor did it rule out whether a direct cause of action exists under the Thirteenth 
Amendment. The court merely “assumed, arguendo” - for the sake of argument or hypothetical 
illustration - that a cause of action did exist. 
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Hnwever, in the trial cn~~rtn, where the issiie has more often been confi-onted directly, the 

weight of authority holds that there is no direct cause of action against private actors under the 

Thirteenth Amendment: Del Elmer; Zachay v. Metzger, 967 F.Supp. 398,402 (S.D. Cal. 1997) 

(finding that, in the absence of any authority allowing a plaintiff to proceed directly under the 

Thirteenth Amendment against a private party, plaintiff could not state a claim; the court 

alternatively found that even if such a claim existed, the facts alleged by plaintiff did not 

constitute peonage or involuntary servitude); Holland v. Bd. of Trustees of Univ. of D. of 

Columbia, 794 F.Supp. 420,424 (D.D.C. 1992) (no direct cause of action for racial 

discrimination under the Thirteenth Amendment; plaintiff must pursue his remedy through the 

statutes adopted pursuant to the Amendment); Roberts v. Walmart Stores, Inc., 736 F.Supp. 

1527, 1528 (E.D. Mo. 1990) (no direct cause of action for racial discrimination under the 

Thirteenth Amendment; plaintiffs need to base claims on one of the implementing statutes of the 

Thirteenth Amendment, e.g. 42 U.S.C. 3 1981 and 0 1982); Sanders v. A.J. CanJieZd Co., 635 

F.Supp. 85,87 (N.D. Ill. 1986) (no direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment for 

race and sex discrimination against a private employer; plaintiff must resort to the statutory 

remedies created by Congress under the power granted to it by the amendment).27 

Similarly, in Cox, the Fourth Circuit did not directly discuss nor did it rule out whether a 
direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment exists. In affirming in part and reversing 
in part the decision of the district court, the Fourth Circuit noted that ‘‘Ltlhe distnct court should 
not overlook, however, that plaintiff sues directly under the [Tlhirteenth and [Flowteenth 
[Almendments, as well as under 4 1983.” Cox, 529 F.2d at 50. It would be far reaching for this 
court to interpret the Fourth Circuit’s statement in Cox and the Fifth Circuit’s assumption in 
Channer as recognizing a direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment. 

21 

See also Westray v. Porthole, Inc., 586 F.Supp. 834, 838-39 (D. Md. 1984) (Thirteenth 
Amendment does not give rise to an independent cause of action for discrimination; plaintiffs 
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The only case cited by the parties that fidly analyzed the availability of a direct cause of 

action against a private actor under the Thirteenth Amendment using the factors set forth in 

Bivens is Turner v. Unzjkation Church, 473 F.Supp 367 (D. R.I. 1978). In Turner, the plaintiff 

filed a Thirteenth Amendment claim based on allegations of coercion which resulted in long 

hours of compulsory service soliciting money and selling items for the Unification Church for 

which she was not paid. Turner, 473 FSupp. at 370-371. The Turner court noted that plaintiffs 

claim - the right to be free from involuntary servitude -was a federally protected right and the 

court therefore had the power to imply a cause of action from the Thirteenth Amendment to 

redress a violation of that interest. Id. at 374. However, the court determined that it should not 

imply such a cause of action because, unlike Bivens, Turner only involved private wrongdoings 

which are traditionally and adequately addressed by state law remedies such as false 

imprisonment, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and assault and battery, and did not 

involve the potential for harm that is attendant with a federal officer unconstitutionally exercising 

his authority. Id. Thc Turner court further stated that those state law remedies were not 

inconsistent with or hostile to the federal interest of protecting individuals from involuntary 

servitude and, fwther, implying a direct cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment based 

must avail themselves of statutory remedies); Vietnamese Fisherman ’s Ass ’n v. The Knights of 
the K u  K l m  Klan, 518 FSupp. 993, 1012 (S.D. Tx.1981) (although Thirteenth Amendment 
claim was dropped, the court stated that a claim asserting the right to be free from the incidents 
and badges of servitude against a private party is enforceable through 42 U.S.C. 9 1981 and 9 
1985(3), and not under the Thirteenth Amendment itself); Clark v. Universal Builders, Inc., 409 
F.Supp. 1274, 1279 (1976) (court held that 5 1982 claim, coupled with the Thirteenth 
Amendment, did state a claim upon which relief could be based, but dismissed a claim based 
solely upon the Thirteenth Amendment stating that “[tlhat Amendment simply does not operate 
in such a manner as to allow an action without implementing statutes such as the Civil Rights 
Act of 1866.”). 
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on the conduct of private actors would constitutionalize a large portion of state tort law. Id. The 

Turner court also noted that the rights guaranteed by the Thirteenth Amendment are protected 

through 42 U.S.C. $3 1981, 1982, 1985(3), and 1994. Therefore, “the implication of a cause of 

action from the thirteenth amendment appears unnecessary and superfluous.” Id. This court 

finds the analysis in Turner persuasive and, together with the weight of case law building on 

Bivens, concludes that the more reasoned analysis is that it appears that there is no direct cause of 

action against private actors under the Thirteenth Amendment. This court recognizes that unlike 

the Fourth Amendment which applies to federal actors, the Thrteenth Amendment “operat[es] 

upon the acts of individuals, whether sanctioned by state legislation or not.” Civil Rights Cases, 

109 U.S. at 23,3 S.Ct. at 30. The weight of authority, however, persuades this court to find that 

the ahsence o f  a clear statement from the Snpreme Coiirt whether a direct cause of action under 

the Thirteenth Amendment against private actors is available and the absence of a governmental 

actor in the present case is dispositive of the issue at hand. 

Furthermore, the existence of federal statutory remedies convinces this court that a direct 

cause of action under the Thirteenth Amendment against a private actor is unavailable. Pursuant 

to Section Two of the Thirteenth Amendment, “Congress has enacted legislation to abolish both 

the conditions of involuntary servitude and the ’badges and incidents of slavery. ”’ City of 

Memphis, 451 US.  at 125,101 S.Ct. at 1599. The Supreme Court has identified those laws as 42 

U.S.C. 0 1981 (“protects the right of all citizens to enter into and enforce contracts”), 0 1982 

(“providing broad protection to property rights”), 9 1985(3) (“protects blacks fi-om conspiracies 

to deprive them of ‘the equal protection of the laws”’). 6 1994 (“which prohibits peonage”), and 

18 U.S.C. 0 1581 (“which provides for criminal punishment of those who impose conditions of 
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peonage on any person”). Td. at 125 n.38, 101 S,.Ct. at 1599 n.38. While Congress has enacted 

civil rights laws under the Thirteenth Amendment, those laws do not specifically provide a 

remedy for involuntary servitude. Of the statutory remedies, only the Anti-Peonage Act, 42 

U.S.C. 9 1994, directly addresses a condition akin to involuntary servitude, but requires the 

additional element of a debt owed to a master. The remaining statutes identified are aimed at the 

incidents and badges of slavery and do not appear to provide plaintiffs with a remedy for 

involuntary servitude itself. However, it is not the job of this court to judicially create a cause of 

action and damage remedy not provided for by the Constitution and not enacted by Congress. 

The Constitution has vested Congress with the power to legislate. Therefore, the doctrine of 

separation of powers directs this court not to meddle in the legislation business of Congress. In 

light of Turner, the plaintiffs in this case can look to state law remedies for their involuntary 

servitude claims. In Turner, the court noted that state law remedies such as false imprisonment, 

intentional infliction of emotional distress, and assault and battery adequately addressed the 

plaintiff‘s involuntary servitude claims. Id. Such state law claims are not inconsistent with or 

hostile to the federal interest of protecting individuals from involuntary servitude. “When private 

wrongdoings can be adequately redressed by state law, there is less compulsion for the judiciary 

to erect additional constitutional causes of action.” Turner, 473 F.Supp. at 374. Therefore, 

based on Turner, the interests at stake here may be satisfactorily vindicated by resort to local 

common law causes of action. 

Accordingly, the court finds that a claim for involuntary servitude or peonage is not 

available to plaintiffs under the Thirteenth Amendment because of the absence of a clear 

directive from the Supreme Court, the absence of a governmental actor in the present case, and 
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the presence of other adequate remedies, either under federal law or state law, that address 

plaintiffs' claim. Because the Anti-Peonage Act addresses plaintiffs' claim for peonage, as 

discussed below, it is not appropriate to imply an independent cause of action for peonage under 

the Thirteenth Amendment. 

Plaintiffs do not state a claim for involuntary servitude. 

Defendants contend plaintiffs have not stated a RICO claim using involuntary servitude 

or peonage as predicate acts because the allegations do not show that plaintiffs had no other 

choice but to labor. The retailer defendants further argue that plaintiffs were not employed by, or 

owed a debt to, the retailer defendants and thus they cannot state a claim against the retailers. 

1. Elements of involuntary servitude. 

Plaintiffs have also alleged federal criminal statute violations of involuntary servitude, 18 

U.S.C. 3 1584, and peonage, 18 U.S.C. 3 1581, as RICO predicate acts. In United States v. 

Kozminski, 487 U.S. 931,952, 108 S.Ct. 2751,2765 (1988), the Supreme Court determined, with 

respect to criminal prosecutions, that the use or threatened use of physical restraint, physical 

coercion or legal coercion to compel labor is required to establish the crime of involuntary 

servitude.28 The Court specifically declined to include the compulsion of labor through 

28 

More specifically, the Supreme Court stated "[albsent change by Congress, we hold that, for 
purpnses of criminal pmnecntinn iinder 6 241 or 5 1584, the term "involiintary servitude" 
necessarily means a condition of servitude in which the victim is forced to work for the 
defendant by the use or threat of physical restraint or physical injury, or by the use or threat of 
coercion through law or the legal process. This definition encompasses those cases in which the 
defendant holds the victim in servitude by placing the victim in fear of such physical restraint or 
injury or legal coercion. Our holding does not imply that evidence of other means of coercion, or 
of poor working conditions, or of the victim's special vulnerabilities is irrelevant in a prosecution 
under these statutes. As we have indicated, the vulnerabilities of the victim are relevant in 
determining whether the physical or legal coercion or threats thereof could plausibly have 
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psychological coercion 3s a form o f  involuntary servitude because such a subjective standard 

could criminalize a broad range of day-to-day activities and subject individuals to the risk of 

arbitrary or discriminatory prosecution and conviction because the statute fails to provide fair 

notice of the conduct to which one must conform. See id. at 949-50, 108 S.Ct. at 2763. The 

Court fwther noted that an earlier provision in the statute which created a special distinction for 

vulnerable victims such as immigrants, children and mental incompetents, had been eliminated. 

See id. at 948, 108 S.Ct. at 2763. “By construing 9 241 and 9 1584 to prohibit only compulsion 

of services through physical or legal coercion, we adhere to the time-honored interpretive 

guideline that uncertainty concerning the ambit of criminal statutes should be resolved in favor of 

lenity.” Id, at 952, 108 S.Ct. at 2764. 

The Supreme Court in Kozminski appeared to recognize that threatened deportation could 

constitute legal coercion. See id. at 948, 108 S.Ct. at 2762 (“it is possible that threatening . . . an 

immigrant with deportation could constitute the threat of legal coercion that induces involuntary 

servitude”). The Ninth Circuit also appears to endorse this view. See Kimes v. United States, 

939 F.2d 776,778 (9th Cir. 1991) (conviction for involuntary servitude based on evidence of 

physical abuse and threats of deportation was upheld because conviction was based on the 

compelled the victim to serve. In addition, a trial court could properly find that evidence of other 
means of coercion or of extremely poor working condilions is relevanl lo corroborale dispuled 
evidence regarding the use or threatened use of physical or legal coercion, the defendant’s 
intention in using such means, or the causal effect of such conduct. We hold only that the jury 
must be instructed that compulsion of services by the use or threatened use of physical or legal 
coercion is a necessary incident of a condition of involuntary servitude. . . . We disagree with the 
Court of Appeals to the extent it determined that a defendant could violate 0 241 or $ 1584 by 
means other than the use or threatened use of physical or legal coercion where the victim is a 
minor, an immigrant, or one who is mentally incompetent.” Id. at 952-53, 108 SCt. at 2765. 
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requisite physical and legal coercion).29 

The Kuzminski Court concluded “[iln short, we agree with Judge Friendly’s observation 

[in United States v. Schackney] that “the most ardent believer in civil rights legislation might not 

think that cause would be advanced by permitting the awful machinery of the criminal law to be 

brought into play whenever an employee asserts that his will to quit has been subdued by a threat 

which seriously affects his future welfare but as to which he still has a choice, however painful.” 

Kuzminski, 487 U.S. at 950, 108 S.Ct. at 2763. 

Accordingly, to establish involuntary servitude as a RICO predicate act, plaintiffs must 

allege facts to show they were forced to work by the use or threat of physical restraint, physical 

29 

The Second Circuit in United States v. Shackney, 333 F.2d 475 (2nd Cir. 1964), also 
considered whether the threat of deportation constituted legal coercion sufficient to sustain a 
criminal charge of involuntary servitude. The c o w  held that threatening immigrant workers 
with deportation does not constitute involuntary servitude. Shackney, 33 F.2d at 486. The court 
stated “[v]arious combinations of physical violence, or indications that more would be used on 
any attempt to escape, and of threats to cause immediate legal confinement, whether for the 
escape or some other reason, have also been held sufficient .... But we see no basis for 
concluding that because the [criminal involuntary servitude] statute can be satisfied by a credible 
threat of imprisonment, it should also be considered satisfied by a threat to have the employee 
sent back to the country of his origin, at least absent circumstances which would make such 
deportation equivalent to imprisonment or worse. A credible threat of deportation might well 
constitute such duress as to invalidate any agreement made under its influence, as, for example, if 
on the completion of the Oros’ contract Shackney had threatened to have them deported unless 
they made another; very likely, also, if something was sought or obtained for withdrawing such a 
threat, the maker could be successfully prosecuted under state blackmail or extortion statutes. 
Riit a holding in involuntary servitude means to us action by the master causing the servant to 
have, or to believe he has, no way to avoid continued service or confinement, in Mr. Justice 
Harlan’s language, ‘superior and overpowering force, constantly present and threatening,’ . . . not 
a situation where the servant knows he has a choice between continued service and freedom, 
even if the master has led him to believe that the choice may entail consequences that are 
exceedingly bad. This seems to us a line that is intelligible and consistent with the great purpose 
of the 13th Amendment; to go beyond it would be inconsistent with the language and the history. 
. . . While a credible threat of deportation may come close to the line, it still leaves the employee 
with a choice, and we do not see how we could fairly bring it within 6 1584 . . .” Id. at 486. 
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injury or legal coercion and that they had no other choice. The “special vulnerabilities” alleged 

by plaintiffs are relevant only in determining whether the physical and/or legal coercion alleged 

or threats thereof could have plausibly compelled the Class members to work. Plaintiffs must 

also allege physical and/or legal coercion and that they were left with no other choice but to 

work. Factual allegations of psychological coercion may be considered in determining whether 

plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged the required elements. The motion to dismiss is granted but 

plaintiffs are given leave to amend. 

2. Elements of peonage. 

The Court also defined peonage as “a condition in which the victim is coerced by threat 

of legal sanction to work off a debt to the master.” Id. at 943, 108 S.Ct. at 2760. Peonage was 

described more fully by the Supreme Court in CZyatt which stated: 

It may be defined as a status or condition of compulsory service, based upon the 
indebtedness of the peon to the master. The basal fact is indebtedness. . . . One fact 
existed universally: all were indebted to their masters. This was the cord by which they 
seemed bound to their master’s service. Upon this is based a condition of compulsory 
scrvicc. Pconagc is sometimes classified as voluntary or involuntary; but this implies 
simply a difference in the mode of origin, but none in the character of the servitude. The 
one exists where the debtor voluntarily contracts to enter the service of his creditor. The 
other is forced upon the debtor by some provision of law. But peonage, however created, 
is compulsory service-involuntary servitude. The peon can release himself therefrom, it 
is true, by the payment of the debt, but otherwise the service is enforced. A clear 
distinction exists between peonage and the voluntary performance of labor or rendering 
of services in payment of a debt. In the latter case the debtor, though contracting to pay 
his indebtedness by labor or service, and subject, like any other contractor, to an action 
for damages for breach of that contract, can elect at any time to break it, and no law or 
force compels performance or a continuance of the service. . . . That which is 
contemplated by the statute is compulsory service to secure the payment of a debt.” 

CZ’att, 197 U.S. at 215-16,25 S.Ct. at 430. 

The Court in United States v. Reynolds phrased the issue as follows: “[wle must 
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determine whether the [alleged victim] was in reality working for a debt which he owed the 

[master], and whether the labor was performed under such coercion as to become compulsory 

service for the discharge of the debt.” Reynolds, 235 U.S. 133, 144, 36 S.Ct. 86, 88 (1914). 

In order to allege a claim for peonage, there must be a debt owed to the employer and the 

employer must apply coercion of such a nature that the debtor has no choice but to work off the 

debt. Based on Supreme Court authority, threats and/or use of physical coercion and/or legal 

coercion are also required elements of a claim for peonage but the legal ramifications ordinarily 

attendant with a breach of an employment contract cannot be considered legal coercion resulting 

in peonage. 

Plaintiffs’ allegations that their “compulsion to labor” is the result of their debts 
owed to their employers are sufficient 

to withstand a motion to dismiss their peonage claim. 

Although it is a close question, plaintiffs’ allegations state a claim for peonage. This is 

because the alleged compulsion under whch plaintiffs labor is not simply the threats and/or use 

of physical and legal coercion; rather, it includes plaintiffs’ fear of the threatened consequences if 

they are unable to pay their recruitment fee debt, which plaintiffs allege is essentially a debt 

owed to their employer. Paragraph 9 of the FAC is illustrative of the essence of plaintiffs’ 

contention that they had no other choice but to work: “they live in constant fear of termination 

by their employers, which would result in their inability to work, deportation to their home 

country, and acceleration of the large recruitment fee debt they incurred at the outset of their 

employment.” 

Plaintiffs have alleged threats and use of physical coercion and legal coercion by the 

manufacturer defendants; however, plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged that these coercive 

44 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

A 0  72 
(Rev 8182) 

measures alone robbed them of all choice. Moreover, even accepting as true as the d o h  must 

the well-pleaded factual allegations of threats and use of physical coercion and legal coercion, 

the allegations are not of a nature or degree, even given plaintiffs’ alleged special vulnerabilities, 

that it may be reasonably inferred that plaintiffs had no choice but to work.3o That plaintiffs 

30 

Plaintiffs have alleged several highly coercive circumstances. For example, plaintiffs 
allege there were physical restrictions in the form of curfews and being restricted to the factory 
compound. They also allege economic punishment for violations thereof and that iinancial or 
physical punishment could also be visited on their families for curfew violations. (FAC 7 126). 
Plaintiffs allege some class members have been subject to false arrest “allegedly at the request of 
the Contractor Defendants.” (FAC 7 129). Plaintiffs allege one contractor defendant threatened 
all his employees with physical retribution and retribution against their families in China if the 
workers spoke to anyone about conditions. (FAC 7 130). Paragraph 129 typifies plaintiffs’ 
factual allegations of physical and legal coercion: 

“[tlhe Contractor Defendants also cause plaintiffs and Class members to be 
constantly fearful of harmful physical contact. Plaintiffs and Class members have 
been repeatedly threatened by armed security guards if attempts are made to leave 
the factory grounds. Numerous plaintiffs and Class members have been 
physically threatened during work hours when the Contractor Defendants’ 
supervisors punished employees for performance or other behavior the 
supervisors chose to punish. Employees of the Contractor Defendants curse Class 
members without justification, threaten them with termination or dock their pay, 
in large part not for legitimate work-related reasons but to ensure continued 
domination and control over the Class members’ lives by reinforcing the message 
that the Contractor Defendants have absolute power over the Class members. 
Any appearance of workers standing up for their rights or protesting bad treatment 
is dealt with harshly; workers are often removed &om the factory and penalized 
with from one to four days time in their barracks without pay, or even fired and 
placed on a plane and deported to their homeland. The economic consequences of 
such action makes the Class members economically and psychologically beholden 
to the Contractor Defendants, because if Class members are terminated, their 
recruitment fee is not returned or it automatically becomes due and payable and 
their deposits are forfeited. In repeated instances, Class members have been 
slapped and physically abused by supervisors employed by the Contractor 
Defendants. Class members have also been subjected to false arrest by local 
police, allegedly at the request of the Contractor Defendants, where Class 
members have been held for 24-36 hours then released with no charges filed. All 
of these methods of intimidation are designed to ensure that Class members do not 
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made a choice to work. even in the face of the alleged physical andor legal coercion, i s  

supported by the allegations showing that they repeatedly renewed their one-year employment 

contracts.31 It is only with the additional consideration of the debt owed to the employer and the 

consequences of being unable to pay the debt that the allegations suggest that plaintiffs were then 

robbed of all choice.32 

Courts have repeatedly held that the financial consequences attending the quitting of 

one’s job make the choice between continuing to work under adverse conditions and quitting 

employment an unpleasant choice, but nevertheless a choice.33 However, when the labor is tied 

protest, dissent or organize during their time in the CNMI garment factories.” 

This paragraph alleges threats of and use of physical coercion and legal coercion but also 
shows that the compulsion under which plaintiffs worked was the consequences of being unable 
to pay their recruitment fee debt. 

31 

For example, Doe IX has been employed by Top Fashion since 1997 (FAC f 23), Doe X 
was employed by United International Corp. between 1996 and 1999 (FAC 7 24), and Doe XI 
has been employed by Pang Jin since 1997 (FAC 7 25). 

32 

See, e.g., Paragraphs 122, 129 and 132, for example, shows plaintiffs’ compulsion to 
work based on their debt: “Class members agree to pay a fee ranging fkom $2,000-$7,000 to the 
recruiting agency, which fee is paid either prior to departing for the CNMI or paid bi-weekly 
during the Class members’ tenure in the CNMI, with up to 90% of their bi-weekly salary being 
paid to the recruiter. Between the repayment of this recruitment fee and the monthly housing and 
food costs imposed by the Contractor Defendants (which can total up to $2,400 a year), at a 
minimum wage of $3.05 per hour, repayment of these fees and costs becomes the overriding 
obligation of each Class member entering the CNMI, establishing the economic bond (and 
subsequent peonage status) to the Contractor Defendants.” 

33 

See Winthal v. Mendez, 76 Civ. 3161 (JMC) 1978 Lexis 1832 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 18,1978) 
(“thrcats of dcportation of futurc unemployment do not state a claim for involuntary servitude. 
So long as the servant knows he has a choice between continued service and freedom, he is not 
working involuntarily.”). See also Belefant v. Negev Airbase Constructors, No. 82 Civ. 
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to a debt owed to the employer and the employer physically coerces the worker to lahnr until the 

debt is paid or the consequences of failing to work to pay off the debt are so severe and outside 

the customary legal remedy that the worker is compelled to labor, a condition of peonage results, 

and this is the essence of plaintiffs’ allegations. 

Plaintiffs have stated a claim for peonage against the retailer defendants. 

At this stage of the proceedings the only question before the court is the sufficiency of 

the pleadings to withstand a motion to dismiss. Although plaintiffs’ have not alleged that they 

worked for or owed a debt to the retailer defendants, or that the retailer defendants exerted 

physical or legal coercion to force plaintiffs to work, and plaintiffs’ allegations are insufficient to 

infer a joint venture or agency relationship between the retailer defendants and the manufacturer 

defendants that would permit vicarious liability to be imposed upon the retailer defendants, they 

have adequately alleged their conspiracy theory, supra, which may impose liability on the 

retailer defendants. 

4598(GLG) 1984 WL 278943, “8 (S.D.N.Y. Jan 13,1984) (the court stated that “unless a 
plaintiff alleges that he does not have the option of leaving his job, h s  claims ... must be 
dismisscd.”); Wicks v. Southern PaclJic Co., 231 F.2d 130, 135 (3* Cir. 1356) (“Whilc lcaving 
their present employment would entail serious losses in terms of seniority rights, medical 
benefits and retirement benefits, the fact remains that appellants are not being compelled or 
coerced to work against their will for the benefit of another.”); Kaveny v. Miller, No. Civ.A. 93- 
0218, 1993 WL 298718, “2 (E.D. Pa. July 30, 1993) (plaintiffs claim for involuntary servitude 
dismissed because he failed to allege the lack of availability of a choice and the complaint’s 
allegations showed in fact that he did have a choice and an opportunity to leave and that he chose 
to labor because he did not want his wife and children on the streets); Flood v. Kuhn, 3 16 
F.Supp. 271,281 (S.D.N.Y. 1970), aff’d 443 F.2d 264,268 (2nd Cir. 1971) (baseball’s reserve 
system did not constitute involuntary servitude because although plaintifrs choice not to play for 
Philadelphia would preclude him from playing baseball at all, it was nonetheless a choice). 
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Twn-year statute nf limitatinns fnr claims nf invnliintary servitude and peonage. 

When a statute of limitations is not supplied by federal law, courts looks to the most 

analogous state statute to determine the limitations period. See North Star Steel Co. v. United 

Steelworkers ofdmerica, 515 U.S. 29, 34, 115 S.Ct. 1927, 1930 (1995). Plaintiffs’ claims for 

peonage and involuntary servitude are claims for violations of their civil rights. The Supreme 

Court has held that the statute of limitations period for the federal civil rights statutes is governed 

by the state’s limitation period for personal injury actions. See Wilson v. Garcia, 471 U.S. 261, 

280, 105 S.Ct. 1938, 1949 (1985) (civil rights claims under 42 U.S.C. 0 1983 governed by state 

statutes of limitation for personal injury actions). The District of the Northern Mariana Islands 

has been determined to be the proper forum3‘ for this action and therefore the Commonwealth’s 

statute of limitations for personal injury claims applies: two years. 7 CMC 9 2503. 

~~ ~ 

34 

The case at hand originated in the Central District of California and was transferred to the 
District of Hawaii pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 
case to this court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 0 1406(a). In its order granting transfer, the Hawaii cowt 
stated that it was not bound by the rationale enunciated in the California court’s transfer decision, 
especially if it was clearly wrong or improper. See Order Granting. . . Transfer [ofl the Entire 
Case to the District Court for the Northern Mariana Islands, United States District Court for the 
District of Hawaii, pg. 30, filed June 23,2000. The Hawaii court disagreed with the California 
court’s reasoning for transfer to Hawaii and held that “it is necessary to transfer this case fiom 
Hawaii, pursuant to 0 1406(a), to a “district or division where it could have been brought.” See 
Id. at 29. According to the Hawaii court, the proper district for this case is the District for the 
Northern Mariana Islands. 

that was transferred from one state to another, courts must distinguish between cases transferred 
pursuant to 0 1404(a) and 0 1406(a). In 5 1406(a) transfers, courts “apply the law of the 
transferee co urt... .” Nelson v. International Paint Co., 716 F.2d 640,642 (9* Cir. 1983). See 
also Tel-Phonic Services, Inc. v. TBSIntern., Inc., 975 F.2d 1134, 1141(5* Cir. 1992) 
(“[F]ollowing a section 1406(a) transfcr, rcgardlcss of which pasty requested the transfer or the 
purpose behind the transfer, the transferee court must apply the choice of law rules of the state in 
which it sits.”). 
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COUNT 5 - VIOTJATTONS OF TNTKRNATIONAL LAW 

Plaintiffs are alleging the torts of forced labor and deprivation of fundamental human 

rights in violation of international law under the Alien Tort Claims Act (“ATCA”). 28 U.S.C. 5 

1350. 

The ATCA provides that “[tlhe district court shall have original jurisdiction of any civil 

action by an alien for a tort only in violation of the law of nations.” Id. In order for a tortious act 

to be actionable under the ATCA, it must be in violation of an international norm that is specific, 

obligatory, and universally condemned. Hilao v. Estate of Marcos, 103 F.3d 789,794 (9* Cir. 

1996). Defendants contend plaintiffs have failed to state a claim under the ATCA because a 

violation of international law requires a state actor and the claims are barred by the applicable 

statute of limitations. The court agrees as to the former assertion and need not consider the latter 

assertion. 

Count 5 fails to state a claim for violations of international law 

Although international law generally governs the relationship between nations, and thus a 

violation thereof almost always requires state action, it has been recognized that a handhl of 

particularly egregious acts---genocide, war crimes, piracy, and slavery---by purely private actors 

can violate international law, As of now, however, only the acts mentioned above have been 

found to result in private individuals being held liable under international law. See Kadic v. 

Karadzic, 70 F.3d 232,240 (2nd Cir. 1995); Doe v. Unocal Corp., 963 F.Supp. 880,891 (C.D. 

Cal. 1997). 

The court has above determined that plaintiffs have failed to make out a claim for the less 

egregious act of involuntary servitude and thus it need not consider whether the Unocal court’s 
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equation of forced labor with slavery is sustainable on the facts as alleged here. As to plaintiffs’ 

claims of other alleged human rights violations, no court has yet accepted plaintiffs’ contention 

that the freedom to associate and the right to be free from discrimination are standards that have 

as yet evolved into norms of customary international law sufficient to invoke and be actionable 

under the ATCA. 

Statute of limitations for the ATCA 

Plaintiffs contend that the statute of limitations period under the ATCA should be 

premised on the limitations period of the most analogous federal law, the Torture Victim 

Protection Act (“TVPA”), which is ten years. Defendants argue the limitations period should be 

borrowed from the most analogous state law claim. 

Because the court has determined that there is no claim under the ATCA, it need not 

consider the question of the‘appropriate statute of limitations. 

No dismissal under Fed.R.Civ.P. 41(b) for improper joinder 

Defendants request that the complaint be dismissed for improper joinder. Fed.R.Civ.P. 

20(a) permits joinder of defendants only if the alleged right to relief arises out of the same 

transaction or series of transactions and if the claims present questions of law or fact common to 

all defendants. Rule 21, however, states misjoinder is not a ground for dismissal and defendants’ 

motion is denied. 
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-- 

COUNT 6 - COMMON LAW FALSE TMPRTSONMENT 

At the hearing, the manufacturer defendants moved to dismiss count six pursuant to the 

Court’s discretion to decline to exercise supplemental jmjsdiction. A district court has 

supplemental jurisdiction over non-federal claims when those claims and the federal claims 

derive fi-om a common nucleus of operative facts, and the claims are such that a plaintiff would 

ordinarily be expected to try them all in one judicial proceeding. United Mine Workers v. Gibbs, 

383 U.S. 715,725,86 S.Ct. 1130, 1138 (1966). The court may decline to exercise supplemental 

jurisdiction, however, if one of the bases enumerated in 28 U.S.C. 8 1367(c) is present,35 and if to 

decline to exercise jurisdiction would best accommodate the values of economy, convenience, 

fairness and comity. See Executive Software N. Am., Inc. v. US. District Court, 24 F.3d 1545, 

1557 (9th Cir. 1994). 

Because plaintiffs’ claim for false imprisonment arises from the same nucleus of 

operative facts as their federal law claims, and the false imprisonment claim does not raise novel 

or complex issues of state law or substantially predominate over the federal claims, and there are 

no other exceptional circumstances present, the court denies defendants’ motion to dismiss the 

false imprisonment local law claim. 

35 

The bases upon which a court can decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction are: (1) 
the claim raises a novel or complex issue of State law; (2) the claim substantially predominates 
over the claim or claims over which the court has original jurisdiction; (3 j the district court has 
dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction; or (4) in exceptional circumstances, 
there are other compelling reasons for declining jurisdiction. 28 U.S.C. 8 1367(c). 
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CONCLUSION 

Defendants’ motion to dismiss is granted in part and denied as set out above. 

(1) plaintiffs have adequately pleaded 9 1962(c) association-in-fact enterprises consisting 

of individual retailer defendants and individual manufacturer defendants and the motion to 

dismiss is denied, 

(2) a 9 1962(c) enterprise consisting of all retailer defendants and all manufacturer 

defendants has not been sufficiently pleaded, defendants’ motion to dismiss is granted, and 

plaintiffs may amend, 

(3) plaintiffs’ allegations of lost wages, excessive payments for employer-provided food 

and lodging, and actual payment of recruiter fees suffice to show ‘‘injury to property” for RICO 

purposes and the motion to dismiss is denied, 

(4) plaintiffs’ allegations that “deposits” paid to recruiters may not be returned upon the 

completion of their contracts are too speculative and are insufficient to show “injury to property” 

for RE0 purposes, those claims are dismissed, and plaintiffs may amend if they are able to 

allege actual losses, 

(5) plaintiffs lack standing to seek injunctive relief under FUCO and that claim is 

dismissed with prejudice, 

(6) plaintiffs have failed to allege an “investment injury” under 9 1962(a), the motion to 

dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs may amend, 

(7) plaintiffs have adequately alleged violation of 18 U.S.C. 9 1581, the federal criminal 

peonage statute, and 18 U.S.C. 0 1951, the “Hobbs Act,” as “predicate acts” supporting a 

“pattern of racketeering activity” under RICO and the motion to dismiss is denied, 
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(8) plaintiffs have not adequately alleged violation of 18 1-J.S.C. fj 1584, the federal 

criminal involuntary servitude statute, as a “predicate act” supporting a “pattern of racketeering 

activity” under RICO, the motion to dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs may amend, 

(9) there is no aiding and abetting liability under RICO, defendants’ motion to dismiss is 

granted, with prejudice, 

(1 0) plaintiffs have not sufficiently alleged that the retailer defendants’ participation in, or 

conduct of, the affairs of an enterprise, defendants’ motion to dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs 

are given leave to amend, 

(1 1) plaintiffs have sufficiently pleaded a 0 1962(d) conspiracy to violate 0 1962(c) and 

the motion to dismiss is denied, 

(12) plaintiffs have failed to sufficiently allege a 6 1962(d) conspiracy to violate 

5 1962(a), defendants’ motion to dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs may amend, 

(13) neither joint venture nor agency are sufficiently pleaded, defendants’ motion to 

dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs may amend, 

(14) civil aiding and abetting is not sufficiently pleaded, defendants’ motion to dismiss is 

granted, and plaintiffs may amend, 

(1 5) civil conspiracy is adequately pleaded, 

(16) plaintiffs have not sufficiently pleaded a claim under the Anti-Peonage Act because 

an allegation of “state action” is required to support such a claim, the claim is dismissed without 

prejudice, and plaintiffs are given leave to amend, 

(1 7) the Thirteenth Amendment does not provide a direct action for either involuntary 

servitude or peonage and those claims are dismissed with prejudice, 
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(1 8) plaintiffs have not adequately alleged involuntary servitude as a predicate act 

sufficient for RICO purposes, defendants’ motion to dismiss is granted, and plaintiffs are granted 

leave to amend, 

(19) plaintiffs have adequately alleged a “compulsion to labor” common law peonage 

claim and the motion to dismiss is denied, 

(20) plaintiffs have adequately alleged a common law peonage claim against the retailer 

defendants and the motion to dismiss is denied, 

(2 1) plaintiffs common law involuntary servitude and peonage claims are subject to the 

Commonwealth’s two-year statute of limitations for personal injury actions, 

(22) plaintiffs have failed to adequately allege a violation of international law and the 

motion to dismiss is granted, with prejudice, 

(23) defendants’ motion to dismiss under Fed.R.Civ.P. 41(b) for improper joinder is 

denied, and 

(24) the court will exercise its supplemental jurisdiction over plaintiffs’ common law 

false imprisonment claims because they arise from the same common nucleus of operative facts. 

Unless specifically ordered otherwise, all dismissals are without prejudice. 

Plaintiffs are granted leave to amend consistent with thls Order and shall have twenty 
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days fi-om the date of this Order to file their second amended complaint. Defendants have twenty 

days from the date of plaintiffs’ filing of their amended complaint to answer or otherwise 

respond. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

Dated this 29th day of October, 2001. 

d- - & ? !  
Alex R. Munson’ 

Judge 
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